THE CITY OF

NOVATO

CALIFORNIA

922 Machin
Novato, CA 94945
415/899-8900
FAX 415/899-8213
WWW.0VAto.01g

Mayor
Josh Fryday
Mayor Pro Tem
Pam Drew
Councilmembers
Denise Athas
Pat Eklund
Eric Lucan

City Manager
Regan M. Candelario

Planning Commission Meeting

Location: Novato City Hall, 901 Sherman Avenue

Present:

Absent:

Staff Present:

September 17, 2018
MINUTES

Dan Dawson
David Gabriel
Peter Tiernan
Susan Wernick

Justin Derby

Bob Brown, Community Development Director
Steve Marshall, Planning Manager

Jeff Walter, City Attorney

Brett Walker, Senior Planner

CALL TO ORDER/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE /ROLL CALL

The meeting was opened by Planning Manager Marshall as secretary to the

Planning Commission.

Planning Manager Marshall requested the Planning Commission appoint a
chair pro tem since Vice Chair Derby was absent and then begin the normal
agenda procedure.

Motion/Second: Wernick/Dawson to appoint Commissioner Tiernan as chair
pro tem. Motion passed 4-0-1 (Ayes: Wernick, Dawson, Gabriel, and Tiernan;

Nays: None; Absent: Derby)

APPROVAL OF FINAL AGENDA:

Motion/Second: Dawson/Wernick to approve final agenda. Motion passed 4-
0-1 (Ayes: Wernick, Dawson, Gabriel, and Tiernan; Nays: None; Absent:

Derby)

PUBLIC COMMENT: None

CONSENT CALENDAR: None

PC Minutes 2018-09-17 1



CONTINUED ITEMS: None

NEW ITEMS:

1. RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDING
ADOPTION OF A GENERAL PLAN AMENDMENT TO INCORPORATE THE
LANDS OF GRANUCCI (290 GRANDVIEW AVENUE; APN 157-103-50)
WITHIN THE CITY’S URBAN GROWTH BOUNDARY AND FINDING THAT
INSTALLATION OF LEACH FIELDS IN THE STONE TREE GOLF COURSE
PROPERTY IS CONSISTENT WITH THE BLACK POINT MASTER PLAN
AND PRECISE DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND FINDING THAT THE PROJECT
IS EXEMPT FROM THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE CALIFORNIA
ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT (CEQA), PURSUANT TO CEQA
GUIDELINES SECTIONS 15303(A) AND 15304(F).

Recommend to the City Council adoption of a General Plan Amendment to incorporate the
Lands of Granucci (290 Grandview Avenue; APN 157-103-50) within the City’s Urban
Growth Boundary and finding that installation of leach fields in the Stone Tree Golf Course
property is consistent with the Black Point Master Plan and Precise Development Plan and
finding that the project is exempt from the requirements of the California Environmental
Quality Act (CEQA), pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Sections 15303(a) and 15304(f).
Community Development Director Brown presented the staff report.

Commissioner Dawson inquired about the matter being part of a settlement agreement and
questioned if the Council votes against the agreement does the matter return to court.

City Attorney Walter confirmed the matter would return to court if the settlement agreement is
rejected.

Commissioner Wernick questioned if Ms. Granucci’s property transferred with the expectation of
development.

City Attorney Walter provided a history of the Granucci property.

Commissioner Gabriel inquired whether the Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) was in place before
Ms. Granucci purchased her property.

City Attorney Walter confirmed the UGB was in place.
Commissioner Gabriel asked if the property was “grandfathered” under the UGB.

City Attorney Walter stated the property existed outside of the UGB.

PC Minutes 2018-09-17 2



Commissioner Tiernan referenced a condition of modifying the UGB that prohibits challenges to
future annexation — why not annex the property?

City Attorney Walter responded that annexation is not necessary to effect the settlement
agreement - annexation is a process conducted by Marin LAFCO.

Chair Pro Tem Tiernan asked if there has been any changes to the sphere of influence situation
referencing past discussions about the UGB and dual annexation procedures.

Community Development Director Brown described LAFCO’s authority and noted there is an
interest in revisiting Novato’s sphere of influence (SOI); there is no current sphere of influence
study.

Chair Pro Tem Tiernan asked if there are other properties in a similar situation [as Granucci
property].

Community Development Director Brown said he believed the Granucci property to be a unique
situation.

Chair Pro Tem Tiernan acknowledged visiting the Granucci property and discussing the matter
with a neighbor.

Commissioners Dawson, Wernick, and Gabriel acknowledged visiting the Granucci property.

Les Hausrath, legal counsel representing Ms. Granucci, spoke at length describing the history of
the Granucci property, the process used to consider alternative septic system designs, and the city
plumbing permit issued for the leach field planned to serve the property. Mr. Hausrath stated the
matter is one of fairness and equity to Ms. Granucci and that if the City cannot make the findings
to support the UGB the Granucci property is useless. He further noted the UGB amendment is
not a made-up remedy since the UGB ordinance speaks to the issue — an exception can be made;
concerns about setting a precedent are not true.

Victoria Granucci, owner of 290 Grandview, reviewed the history of her property purchase, the
process of studying septic system designs, and noted the leach field easement was acquired by the
Mitchells’ [prior owner of 290 Grandview]. Ms. Granucci noted she would not have purchased
the property if it had been known a permit would not have been issued for the leach field. She
feels the fair and equitable solution is to amend the UGB.

Emery Mitchell [prior owner of 290 Grandview] noted the proposed leach field is not located in
open space and that appropriate permits were obtained from the City and County. He noted Ms.
Granucci is an honest and fair individual and didn’t deserve negativity.

Bernie Meyers requested the Planning Commission consider a 30-day extension before making a

decision on the matter. Mr. Meyers noted a letter he submitted with an extensive list of questions
concerning the Granucci matter; he referenced a number of specific questions therein.

PC Minutes 2018-09-17 3



Terri Shore, representing Greenbelt Alliance, was disconcerted to see staff recommend changing
the UGB and made several suggestions on the matter: explore other solutions, send the matter to
the voters, or go to court. She supported deferring the matter and felt amending the UGB
established a precedent. She encouraged the Commission to vote no on the item. She felt the leach
field situation violated Measures A and B related to the StoneTree Golf Club; a vote to support
the amendment would undermine the UGB.

Pat Cunningham, resident of Black Point, encouraged the Planning Commission to deny the UGB
amendment request and noted the leach field would be over 600-feet in length.

Penny Teicher requested more time to consider the matter. She referenced Black Point [StoneTree
Golf Club] approvals requiring removal of all septic systems. She desired clarification on voter
approval of the Black Point project and suggested the UGB change should require voter approval.

Susan Stompe, Marin Conservation League, stated she would appreciate more opportunity to
review the matter. She felt the UGB issue could be precedent setting. Amending the UGB does
not ring true with the community’s support of the UGB, that being encouraging growth within
city boundaries.

Adam Betts, Bay Club [owner of StoneTree Golf Club] stated more time to review the matter
would be appreciated.

Mr. Hausrath presented a rebuttal to several comments made by members of the public. He noted
several alternative septic system designs were studied, but none were found feasible. He stated
he contacted Bay Club twice by email, but received no response. He said the leach field easement
is very clear and does not apply any conditions. He clarified the request at hand does not involve
amendment of the master plan or precise development plan for Black Point, but was a consistency
finding.

The public comment period was closed.
Commissioner Tiernan asked about City authority to review easements.

Community Development Director Brown said the City has no authority — easements are created
between owners.

City Attorney Walter commented on the pending litigation, noting the matter is on hold until the
UGB matter is resolved. He stated the legal filings for this case are a matter of public record. He
described the three party settlement agreement, including long term maintenance provisions and
tree replacement if existing trees are damaged. He is of the opinion approving the UGB
amendment in this instance does not represent a precedent.

Commissioner Gabriel indicated he was torn between making a decision or delaying the matter.
He noted the full Commission would be present if the matter were delayed.

Commissioner Wernick asked about the consequences of delaying the matter.

PC Minutes 2018-09-17 4



City Attorney Walter said the Court would be asked to grant an extension; if declined, the judge
could schedule the matter for trial.

Commissioner Wernick asked about the consequences of a lawsuit by Greenbelt Alliance or Marin
Audubon against a UGB amendment decision.

City Attorney Walter agreed it is possible a lawsuit could be filed. He noted Ms. Granucci has
indemnified the City against litigation.

Commissioner Wernick stated she didn’t see a precedent issue, but is concerned neighbors need
more time to consider the matter.

Commission Dawson noted he was leaning towards a continuance. He stated he doesn’t see a
precedent. He said the problem started with the approval of the subdivision creating the Granucci
parcel. He wondered how many other properties in the county were similarly subdivided.

Community Development Director Brown stated it would be difficult to analyze properties in the
county.

Commissioner Tiernan shared the same concerns as the other commissioners.

Motion/Second: Dawson/Wernick to continue the Granucci matter to October 15, 2018. Motion
passed 4-0-1 (Ayes: Wernick, Dawson, Gabriel, and Tiernan; Nays: None; Absent: Derby)

2. RESIDENCE INN- NOVATO
P2017-055; CEQA MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION
ZONING MAP AMENDMENT (REZONE)
MASTER PLAN
PRECISE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
DESIGN REVIEW
VACATION OF RELINQUISHMENT OF ABUTTERS RIGHTS
APN 143-011-06; 7546 REDWOOD BLVD

Hold a public hearing and adopt resolutions providing recommendations to the City Council
regarding a mitigated negative declaration (ISMND), zoning map amendment (rezone),
master plan/precise development plan/design review, and the adoption of general plan
consistency findings relating to a vacation of a relinquishment of abutter’s rights for the
Residence Inn — Novato project.

Senior Planner Walker presented the project, including the project setting, project description,
requested entitlements, CEQA determination, and staff analysis.

Chair Pro Tem Tiernan asked questions of staff regarding stormwater control, abutter’s rights,
and a future multi-use path in the SMART right-of-way.

PC Minutes 2018-09-17 5



Senior Planner Walker and Planning Manager Marshall addressed Chair Pro Tem Tiernan’s
questions.

Commissioner Dawson commented regarding the SMART multi-use pathway, noting there is no
funding at this time for the pathway.

Commissioners Dawson and Gabriel noted visiting the project site.

Chair Pro Tem Tiernan noted visiting the site and having a conversation with the applicant many
months ago.

Commissioner Wernick stated that she spoke with a representative of ROIC.
Chair Pro Tem Tiernan opened the public hearing and asked the applicant to make a presentation.

Don Cape, representing Tharaldson Hospitality, introduced the project, gave a brief history of
Tharaldson Hospitality, and gave a history of the different site plan designs developed for the
project.

Tim Schram, Adobe Associates - applicant’s engineer, provided a description of on-site storm
water improvements at the site, noting there would be no changes to the drainage level, nor would
drainage be directed to SMART’s right-of-way. He commented that almost all on-site landscaping
spaces would serve as stormwater filtration.

Senior Planner Walker stated that W-Trans completed a traffic impact analysis of the project,
which resulted in some recommendations for pedestrian safety improvements in the vicinity of
the site. Mr. Cape provided additional comments regarding vehicle traffic typically associated
with hotels.

Chair Pro Tem Tiernan asked for public comments.

Joanne Saunders made comments regarding the project, including its consistency with the North
Redwood Blvd Corridor Study. She felt the hotel did not fit the vision expressed in the Study. The
project continues the standard of building hotels on old highways.

Amy Higuera, legal counsel representing ROIC, referenced a comment letter she prepared on
behalf of ROIC regarding this project. Ms. Higuera requested a 90-day continuance of the project
so ROIC can continue conversations with Residence Inn representatives regarding a shared
driveway easement. She believed there was a fair argument to support a CEQA analysis of some
development on the ROIC parcel.

Robert Doran, representing ROIC, commented on the project and requested additional time to
work with the developer regarding joint access onto the Residence Inn and ROIC sites.

Commissioner Dawson asked Mr. Doran what ROIC was looking for in terms of access and what
might be the future impact on ROIC’s parcel with shared access.

PC Minutes 2018-09-17 6



Mr. Doran responded he was not sure; there are many different site plan options that could be
effected by the design of shared access.

Commissioner Dawson stated he did not see an impact.

Mr. Doran responded the issue is not the location of the driveway, but the depth could be a
problem since it might impact where a future building is located.

Susan Stompe expressed concern about drainage, flooding, and stormwater flows into Rush
Creek.

Kenneth Lowe stated that he lives across the street and is concerned with traffic and safety. He
thinks the hotel is ugly and has concerns regarding the retail space. He wanted a commitment to
quality retail uses, not empty windows.

Lee Ann Baxter-Lowe stated concerns regarding impacts on safety of residents in the area due to
transient hotel occupants.

Wayne Mclintosh spoke in support of the hotel, but stated that making left turns from Ranch Drive
to Redwood Boulevard were a safety issue. He suggested a roundabout or traffic signal is needed
at the intersection of Golden Gate Place and Ranch Drive.

Mr. Cape addressed the Commission regarding the quality of the hotel and timing of the project
in relation to the ROIC site.

Community Development Director Brown addressed the Commission regarding the history of the
project and the North Redwood Corridor planning process.

Senior Planner Walker stated the recommended conditions of approval would allow for either site
plan and the Planning Commission does not need to decide on one site plan.

Planning Manager Marshall responded regarding a past project, Atherton Place, which had been
approved with two site plan options.

The public comment portion of the hearing was closed.
Commissioner Wernick stated more bicycle parking is needed.

Commissioner Dawson made comments regarding the shared driveway and need for additional
bicycle parking.

Planning Manager Marshall noted a request for additional bicycle parking could be incorporated
into the resolution and referenced codified requirements for bicycle parking.

Commissioner Wernick stated she thought the project was a nice design; big, but not a huge hotel.
She encouraged the applicant and ROIC to reach agreement on shared access.

PC Minutes 2018-09-17 7



Commissioner Gabriel stated this is a Las Vegas designer tailoring a project to Novato.

Motion/Second: Dawson/Wernick to adopt the resolution recommending the City Council adopt
a CEQA Mitigated Negative Declaration. Motion passed 4-0-1 (Ayes: Dawson, Gabriel, Tiernan
and Wernick; Nays: None; Absent: Derby).

Motion/Second: Wernick/Gabriel to adopt the resolution recommending the City Council approve
the rezone, master plan, precise development plan, and design review with the comments that the
Design Review Commission review the adequacy and location of bicycle parking at the site and
that the shared access onto Redwood Blvd. be considered the preferred site plan. Motion passed
4-0-1 (Ayes: Dawson, Gabriel, Tiernan and Wernick; Nays: None; Absent: Derby).

M/s: Dawson/Wernick moved to adopt the resolution reporting to the City Council that the
vacation of a relinquishment of abutter’s rights is consistent with the Novato General Plan. Motion
passed 4-0-1 (Ayes: Dawson, Gabriel, Tiernan and Wernick; Nays: None; Absent: Derby).

GENERAL BUSINESS:
3. ELECTION OF CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR

Item continued at the request of staff to a date uncertain.

UPCOMING AGENDAS AND QUORUMS: Planning Manager Marshall briefly covered
possible upcoming agenda items.

ADJOURNMENT: Meeting adjourned at 11:09 PM.

PC Minutes 2018-09-17 8



